IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RAEKWON ROBERTSON,

Appellant,

v.

Electronically Filed Feb 08 2024 10:37 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO: 87811

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Post-Conviction Habeas Petition

STEVEN S. OWENS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #004352 Steven S. Owens, LLC 1000 N. Green Valley #440-529 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 595-1171 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is from an Order Regarding Evidentiary Hearing on Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) filed on December 1, 2023, which denied a petition for post-conviction relief from a criminal conviction pursuant to a jury verdict. 8 AA 1968. Notice of Entry of Order was filed on December 6, 2023. 8 AA 1967. Appellate jurisdiction in this case derives from NRAP 4(b)(1) and NRS 34.575(1). The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on December 19, 2023. 8 AA 1976.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it is a postconviction appeal that does involve a challenge to a judgment of conviction or sentence for offenses that are category A felonies. See NRAP 17(b)(3). However, because the case was previously remanded by the Court of Appeals for an evidentiary hearing, it may be appropriate to re-assign it back to the same Court now that the case has returned.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. COUNSEL FAILED TO INVESTIGATE AND RAISE APPELLANT'S MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES AT TRIAL AS DISPROVING SPECIFIC INTENT

II. COUNSEL FAILED TO INVESTIGATE AND RAISE APPELLANT'S MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES AT SENTENCING IN MITIGATION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 14, 2017, Appellant Raekwon Robertson was charged by way of Indictment in Case C-17-328587-2 along with two other co-defendants, Demario Lofton-Robinson and Davontae Wheeler, with counts of Conspiracy to Commit Robbery, Attempt Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon, and Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon for the killing of Victim Gabriel Valenzuela on August 9, 2017.¹ 1 AA 1-6. An initial trial date was set for July 30, 2018. 1 AA 7-14. Attorney Michael Sanft confirmed as attorney of record on February 13, 2018, and represented Robertson through jury trial, sentencing and direct appeal. 1 AA 15.

A Superseding Indictment with the same charges was filed on April 19, 2018, as a result of new ballistics evidence submitted to the Grand Jury. 1 AA 16-45. On June 14, 2018, the trial date was vacated and reset for January 22, 2019. 1 AA 52-61. On January 2, 2019, Robertson's counsel had no objection to a co-defendant's motion to sever the parties and the trial date was vacated and reset for June 25, 2019. 1 AA 70, 72-6. On May 15, 2019, the trial date was again vacated as to all defendants and was reset for November 19, 2019, because co-defendant Lofton-Robinson had just gotten back from Lakes Crossing. 1 AA 82-6. At calendar call on November

¹ Appellant was also charged alone in the same Indictment with counts of Burglary, Conspiracy and Armed Robbery for a separate and unrelated incident occurring on August 2, 2017, at the Fiesta Discount Market to which he later pleaded guilty.

5, 2019, the trial date was again vacated because co-defendant Lofton-Robinson was sent back to Competency Court and the trial date was reset for February 10, 2020. 1 AA 91-9. When co-defendant Lofton-Robinson was unavailable at Lake's Crossing, Robertson proceeded to a joint jury trial together with co-defendant Wheeler. 1 AA 100-2, 103-8.

On the first day of trial, an Amended Superseding Indictment was filed removing co-defendant Lofton-Robinson. 1 AA 109-12. The trial proceeded for eight days from February 11th through 24th, 2020. 1 AA 113 – 7 AA 1571. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all three counts including First Degree Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon. 7 AA 1563-71, 1572-3. On March 12, 2020, Robertson pleaded guilty to two additional counts of Conspiracy and Armed Robbery for the unrelated crime at Fiesta Discount Market which were run concurrent. 7 AA 1574-85. Robertson was sentenced on all counts on June 11, 2020, and received an aggregate sentence of 28 years to Life in prison.² 7 AA 1586-99. The judgment of conviction was filed on June 17, 2020. 7 AA 1600-3.

² In contrast, co-defendant Wheeler was only found guilty of Conspiracy and Second Degree Murder (without a deadly weapon) and received an aggregate sentence of 144 months (or 12 years) to Life in prison. 7 AA 1659-61. After his return from Lake's Crossing, Co-defendant Lofton-Robinson pleaded guilty to Second Degree Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon and Attempt Robbery and received a stipulated aggregate sentence of 18 to 45 years in prison. 7 AA 1663-5.

Robertson's counsel filed a timely direct appeal on June 24, 2020, which was docketed as SC#81400. 7 AA 1604-5, 1667-8. Counsel filed an Opening Brief on November 12, 2020. 7 AA 1670-84. The Nevada Supreme Court filed its Order of Affirmance on May 14, 2021. 7 AA 1686-90. Remittitur issued on June 8, 2021. 7 AA 1691.

Meanwhile, Robertson filed premature pro se petitions for writ of habeas corpus in the instant case, A-20-823892-W, on October 29th and again on November 5th, 2020, which were stayed pending the outcome of the direct appeal. 7 AA 1606-16, 1617-22, 1623. On May 26, 2022, Robertson filed another timely petition along with a motion to appoint counsel which the district court granted on June 2, 2022. 7 AA 1624-31, 1632-6, 1637. Counsel's Supplemental Brief with exhibits was filed on August 19, 2022. 7 AA 1641-1740. The State's Response was filed on October 5, 2022. 8 AA 1741-62. The matter was heard and argued in court on November 17, 2022, at which time the habeas petition was denied. 8 AA 1763-7. Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on December 13, 2022. 8 AA 1777-92. A timely Notice of Appeal to this Court was filed on January 6, 2023. 8 AA 1793-4.

In the post-conviction appeal (SC# 85932), Appellant filed an Opening Brief on March 7, 2023, which was followed by the State's Answering Brief on April 5, 2023, and then by Appellant's Reply Brief on April 14, 2023. 8 AA 1795, 1826, 1862. On August 7, 2023, the Nevada Court of Appeals filed its Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part and Remanding. 8 AA 1876-82. Remittitur issued on September 1, 2023. 8 AA 1883.

On remand, a status check was set for September 14, 2023, at which time an evidentiary hearing was scheduled for November 3, 2023. 8 AA 1884-86. On October 23, 2023, Appellant filed Exhibits in Support of Evidentiary Hearing. 8 AA 1890-1933. The evidentiary hearing was then conducted as planned on November 3, 2023, at which Appellant's former counsel, Michael Sanft, and Appellant's mother, Erika Loyd, both testified. 8 AA 1934-66. A written Order Regarding Evidentiary Hearing on Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) was filed on December 1, 2023, which denied the habeas claims. 8 AA 1968-75. Notice of Entry Order was filed on December 6, 2023. 8 AA 1976-77.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At trial, the State presented evidence that on August 8th, 2017, and into the morning of the August 9th, 2017, Appellant Raekwon Robertson, with his codefendants Demario Lofton-Robinson, Davonte Wheeler, and Deshawn Robinson attempted to carry out an armed robbery. 4 AA 982-3. They arrived in the neighborhood of Dewey Avenue and Lindell Avenue just before midnight where they and their car, a white Mercury Grand Marquis, were observed by a passing jogger, Robert Mason who took note of the suspicious activity. 3 AA 653-8. Shortly after, they saw Gabrielle Valenzuela pull into his driveway and check his mail. 5 AA 1005-6.

The four men quickly approached him, grabbed him, and told him to give them everything he had. 5 AA 1005-6. Within a couple of seconds Valenzuela lay dying in his driveway, shot in his head and torso. 5 AA 1024. The four men fled the scene without taking any of Valenzuela's property. 5 AA 1007.

The State used accomplice DeShawn Robinson to validate the facts of the events. 5 AA 1019. Robinson agreed to this only after the State offered to remove the charge of Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon in exchange for his testimony against Robertson and Wheeler. 5 AA 1019. Robinson testified that Appellant Robertson carried a gun and participated in the attempted robbery and murder. 4 AA 990; 5 AA 1006. The State also presented a text message Robertson sent to another accomplice on the day of the incident asking if he wanted to "hit a house," surveillance video showing Robertson in a car identified by a witness as being in the immediate vicinity of the crime scene at the time the crimes occurred, evidence of Robertson's fingerprints on that car, and a gun found at Robertson's house that had his DNA on it and contained bullets that matched casings found at the crime scene. 7 AA 1687-8.

At the evidentiary hearing recently held on November 3, 2023, Appellant's mother Erika Loyd furnished and identified her son's school records which were admitted into evidence by stipulation. 8 AA 1890-1933, 1940, 1957-1958. She had obtained copies of these school records and provided them to Appellant's trial counsel, Michael Sanft, in preparation for trial. 8 AA 1959. Ms. Loyd remembered that Appellant had many behavioral problems at school and that he had been diagnosed with bipolar and schizophrenia. 8 AA 1959-60. Although doctors had prescribed medication, Ms. Loyd discontinued having her son take the pills because they made him like a zombie with dry mouth and no appetite. *Id.* Ms. Loyd testified that her son's mental health history showed his thinking and ability to understand were not at the level he should have been and would have made a difference to the jury and sentencing judge. 8 AA 1961.

Appellant's former counsel Michael Sanft testified that he represented Appellant in the underlying criminal case for murder that went to trial in 2020. 8 AA 1939. Sanft acknowledged that there had been two pre-trial competency reports done on Appellant by Drs. Paglini and Kapel. 8 AA 1940. Those two competency reports were admitted into evidence by stipulation. *Id.*; 7 AA 1698-1710. These reports confirmed that although Appellant was competent to stand trial, he suffered from "bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and ADHD." *Id.* Although Appellant was receiving treatment and medication while in custody, at the time of the instant offense he had been off his medications for over a year. *Id.* When off his medications, he reported hearing voices, paranoia, and blackouts and had no memory of the offense. *Id.* Appellant dropped out of school in 11th grade where he had been in special education for a "learning disability" and he received social security. *Id.* Sanft recalled he had seen and been generally familiar with these competency reports at the time, but did not necessarily remember their content. 8 AA 1941-42.

The school records provided to him by Erika Loyd did not look familiar to Sanft and he did not recall seeing any of Appellant's school records in preparation for trial. 8 AA 1944. The school records documented Appellant's history of problems with inappropriate behavior, making bad choices and poor decisions. 8 AA 1945. School personnel had determined that Appellant's actions were a manifestation of his disability and his conduct was related to possible emotional problems. 8 AA 1946. Despite not having been previously familiar with much of this information, Sanft testified that he would not have used it at trial. 8 AA 1946-49. But Sanft also opined that he should have used it as mitigation in sentencing. 8 AA 1949-50.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This habeas case returns after being previously remanded by the Court of Appeals (SC#85932) for an evidentiary hearing on two particular issues. 8 AA 1878-1880. Following an evidentiary hearing, the district court below again erred

in denying Robertson's habeas claims of ineffective assistance of counsel at trial and at sentencing and erred in its application of law and determination of facts which are not supported by substantial evidence in the record. Specifically, counsel failed to investigate and raise Robertson's substantial mental health issues of a learning disability, mild mental retardation, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and ADHD either at trial to negate the specific intent crimes or at sentencing in mitigation. But for these errors, the outcome of Robertson's trial and sentencing would have been different.

ARGUMENT

An indigent defendant possesses a constitutional right to reasonably effective assistance of counsel at trial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984) (trial); *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387, 391, 105 S. Ct. 830, 833 (1985) (appeal); *Warden v. Lyons*, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984), *cert. denied*, 471 U.S. 1004, 105 S. Ct. 1865 (1985). To state a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel sufficient to invalidate a judgment of conviction, a convicted defendant must demonstrate that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that he was prejudiced as a result of counsel's performance. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88, 692, 104 S. Ct. at 2064-65, 2067. Prejudice is demonstrated where counsel's errors were so severe that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the

proceeding would have been different. *Id.* at 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2068. A "reasonable probability" is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial. *Id.* The defendant carries the affirmative burden of establishing prejudice. 466 U.S. at 693, 104 S. Ct. at 2067-68.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact that is subject to independent review. *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). However, a district court's factual findings will be given deference by this court on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong. *Riley v. State*, 110 Nev. 638, 647, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994). This Court reviews the court's application of the law to those facts de novo. *Lader v. Warden*, 121 Nev. 682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005). Appellant Robertson was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution as set forth in the following claims for relief, which the district court erred in denying.

I. COUNSEL FAILED TO INVESTIGATE AND RAISE APPELLANT'S MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES AT TRIAL AS DISPROVING SPECIFIC INTENT

Appellant's counsel called no witnesses at trial and Appellant himself did not testify. So, the jury heard nothing at all about Appellant's mental health issues and how they might have affected his behavior and intent the night of the robbery. After the remand for an evidentiary hearing, the district court again denied this habeas claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on grounds that it was inconsistent with defense counsel's theory at trial which was that Appellant was not present for the robbery and was not the shooter. 8 AA 1970-1971. Further, the district court concluded that this was a reasonable strategic decision. *Id.* However, the decision was neither strategic nor reasonable because counsel was not even aware of Appellant's mental health issues despite having access to Appellant's competency reports and information from Appellant's mother. Also, while true that counsel pursued a theory of defense that the evidence was insufficient to convict beyond a reasonable doubt, presenting this mental health evidence was not inconsistent with such an argument and the failure to present it was both deficient and prejudicial to Appellant as it would have changed the outcome of the case.

Evidence of a mental disorder or defect not raising to the level required for an insanity instruction may be considered in determining whether a defendant had the requisite intent at the time of the offense. See *Fox v. State*, 73 Nev. 241, 247, 316 P.2d 924, 927 (1957); *United States v. Brown*, 326 F.3d 1143, 1146 (10th Cir. 2003) (Evidence of a defendant's mental condition is admissible for the purpose of disproving specific intent).

Prior to trial, Appellant had undergone a couple competency evaluations by Dr. Lawrence Kapel and Dr. John Paglini. 7 AA 1698-1710. These reports confirmed that although Appellant was competent to stand trial, he suffered from "bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and ADHD." Id. Although Appellant was receiving treatment and medication while in custody, at the time of the instant offense he had been off his medications for over a year. Id. When off his medications, he reported hearing voices, paranoia, and blackouts and had no memory of the offense. *Id.* Appellant dropped out of school in 11th grade where he had been in special education for a "learning disability" and he received social security. Id. At the evidentiary hearing, Appellant's trial counsel Michael Sanft admitted that he had these competency reports prior to trial, but did not specifically remember anything about Appellant hearing voices, being paranoid, not remembering the incident, or having blackouts, mood swings, and anger. 8 AA 1939-1941. Instead, counsel relied on his own interactions with Appellant and concluded that he was never concerned for his safety around Appellant who appeared normal to him. 8 AA 1942-1943.

In regards to the school records furnished to him by Appellant's mother, Erika Loyd, counsel testified that they did not look familiar to him and he did not recall seeing any of Appellant's school records in preparation for trial. 8 AA 1944. The school records documented Appellant's history of problems with inappropriate behavior, making bad choices and poor decisions. 8 AA 1945. School personnel had determined that Appellant's actions were a manifestation of his disability and his conduct was related to possible emotional problems. 8 AA 1946.

In its Order denying this claim, the district court concluded that trial counsel was unaware of Appellant's mental health conditions:

Mr. Sanft, Esq., trial counsel presented at the hearing and provided testimony. He was not familiar with the mental health records admitted at the hearing, and therefore, did not review them prior to trial. Mr. Sanft indicated he never had any indication Mr. Robertson suffered from any mental health condition nor did petitioner convey to him any mental health conditions that were relevant. Although the petitioner was referred to competency court in November, 2017, Mr. Sanft was not aware of petitioner's history of mental illness or his medication regiment, and whether petitioner was off his medication at the time of the murder. Mr. Robertson never informed counsel of any mental health issues that would be relevant in the trial phase according to his trial counsel.

8 AA 1969. But trial counsel *should* have been aware of Appellant's mental health conditions because he had the competency reports which were part of the record. 8 AA 1939-1941. Counsel also knew of and had spoken at the time with Appellant's mother, Erika Loyd, who gave a voluntary statement to police on August 15, 2017, confirming that Appellant has mental illnesses for which he receives social security benefits. 7 AA 1712-36. Specifically, she explained that Appellant has been diagnosed with schizophrenia, bipolar, mild mental retardation, learning disability, and sickle cell trait. *Id.* Appellant was prescribed and took several medications to include Adderall and Abilify but she had him stop taking them because it made him "like a zombie." *Id.*; 8 AA 1960. At the evidentiary hearing, Erika Loyd testified

that she personally spoke with Michael Sanft before the trial about Appellant's mental illness and learning disabilities. 8 AA 1958-1959. She informed Sanft about the school records and hand-delivered them to his office before trial. *Id.* Yet, Sanft did not remember seeing them. 8 AA 1944. The district court's finding that Appellant was at fault for not informing his counsel of his mental health issues is not supported by the record. 8 AA 1969. Under these circumstances, trial counsel's ignorance of Appellant's mental health illnesses and conditions fell below an objective standard of reasonable performance.

Additionally, without investigation and knowledge of Appellant's mental illness, a decision to omit such facts from trial can not be deemed an informed and reasonable strategic decision. It is the epitome of hindsight to say that counsel's omission of facts unknown to him could ever be an intentional strategic decision. Instead, objectively reasonable counsel "must make a sufficient inquiry into the information that is pertinent to his client's case" and only then "make a reasonable strategy decision on how to proceed." *Doleman v. State*, 112 Nev. 843, 848, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690–91). It is only those "strategic choices made after thorough investigation" which are virtually unchallengeable. *Id.* Testimony showed that the decision here in this case to forego evidence of Appellant's mental health issues at trial was uninformed and unintentional because counsel was not even aware of the facts and did not review

the documents in his possession. The district court's decision to the contrary is not supported by the evidence.

Appellant's counsel did not investigate nor present any of this mental health evidence at trial as a defense to the specific intent crimes of Conspiracy to Commit Robbery, Attempt Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon, and First Degree Murder. Washington v. State, 132 Nev. 655, 664, 376 P.3d 802, 809 (2016) (Conspiracy is a specific intent crime); Johnson v. State, 123 Nev. 139, 142, 159 P.3d 1096, 1097 (2007) (An attempt crime is a specific intent crime); *Hancock v. State*, 80 Nev. 581, 583, 397 P.2d 181, 182 (1964) (First degree murder is a specific intent crime). Such a defense which challenges and undermines an important specific intent element of the offenses is not necessarily inconsistent with a defense such as insufficiency of the evidence that Appellant was one of the perpetrators. The two arguments are not mutually exclusive as found by the district court. 8 AA 1970. Attorneys can and do argue alternative theories all the time. Appellant's co-defendant, DeShawn Robinson, testified that Appellant was in fact present for the robbery and actually was one of the shooters, so relying exclusively on an "I-wasn't-there" defense was not reasonable under the circumstances. 4 AA 965 – 5 AA 1024. Because the judge found counsel was not familiar with and had not reviewed Appellant's mental health records, there was no conscious strategic decision to forego that defense as weaker or inconsistent to the strategy actually used at trial.

Had the jurors heard the evidence of Appellant's various mental health conditions and that he had not been taking his medications at the time, there is a reasonable probability they would not have found that he possessed the *mens rea* necessary for the specific intent crimes charged and he would have been acquitted or convicted of lesser offenses. The district court's factual findings are not entitled to deference by this court on appeal as they are not supported by substantial evidence and are clearly wrong. The district court's legal conclusions misapply and overlook the law.

II. COUNSEL FAILED TO INVESTIGATE AND RAISE APPELLANT'S MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES AT SENTENCING IN MITIGATION

The district court denied this claim of ineffective counsel at sentencing on grounds that counsel made a reasonable strategic decision because the robbery/murder was a premeditated plan and Appellant had denied participation in the crime. 8 AA 1970-1971. The district court also found that had the mental health evidence and arguments been presented, there was no reasonable probability of a different outcome more favorable for Appellant. 8 AA 1972.

At sentencing on June 11, 2020, Appellant informed the court that he had to go to the extraordinary length of personally contacting the prosecutor by letter to get a copy of his PSI because he could not get in contact with his own counsel. 7 AA

1589. He only received the PSI the day before sentencing. Id. Arguing on his behalf, counsel asked that all counts run concurrent but otherwise submitted the sentencing determination to the judge because she had heard the trial testimony and was familiar with the case. 7 AA 1590-1. But the prosecutor had asked for extra time on the deadly weapon enhancement and counsel failed to respond to this argument. 7 AA 1588-91. Counsel erred in failing to argue for a fixed term of 50 years on the murder charge as opposed to a life sentence and further erred in failing to argue for a 12-month minimum sentence on the deadly weapon enhancement. Id. In fact, counsel failed to present any mitigation evidence or argument at all. Id. As a result, and without being given any reason to reduce the sentence, the judge imposed a life term for the murder and gave the maximum possible sentence on the deadly weapon enhancement of 8 to 20 years consecutive. 7 AA 1591-2. At the evidentiary hearing, once he was faced with the new facts and records of Appellant's mental health issues, Michael Sanft agreed that he should have presented them as mitigation in sentencing. 8 AA 1949-50. Contrary to counsel's own admission of deficient performance, the judge's conclusion that omission of the mental health information was a reasonable strategic decision is plainly wrong and not supported by the record as argued above.

Nor was the crime premeditated as reasoned by the judge in support of her findings. 8 AA 1970. The supposed plan was to "hit a house," which would mean

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