IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RAEKWON ROBERTSON,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Mar 06 2024 12:11 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 87811

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from the Denial of a Postconviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

STEVEN S. OWENS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #004352 Steven S. Owens, LLC 1000 N. Green Valley #440-529 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 595-1171 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly held an evidentiary hearing in this case, which included the testimony of Appellant's prior attorney and his mother. Based upon the testimony of the witnesses, the district court found that Appellant's allegations that his attorney failed to investigate and present his mental health issues at trial was inconsistent with Appellant's explanation to his counsel that he was not present at the time of the robbery and murder.

Furthermore, Appellant's counsel to not introduce his mental health records at sentencing was consistent with the defense strategy arguing that Appellant was not present at the time of the crime. Moreover, even if counsel could have presented Appellant's mental health records at sentencing, the district court did not abuse its discretion in determining that such information would not have altered the outcome of his sentencing.

ARGUMENT

This Court reviews the district court's application of the law de novo and gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters. State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact that is subject to independent review. However, a district court's factual findings will be given deference by this Court on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong. Lader v. Warden, 121 Nev. 682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005). While this Court gives deference to the district court's factual findings if supported by substantial evidence and not clearly erroneous, this Court reviews the district court's application of the law to those facts de novo. Id.

I. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant argues that his attorney was ineffective for failing to put his lack of aptitude and mental health records at the forefront of his murder trial in order to

negate his criminal culpability. Any notion of this argument was dispelled at the evidentiary hearing where Appellant's counsel stated, and the district court found as a fact, that Appellant told his attorney that he was not present at the time of the murder. Therefore, the strategy was to show that the State lacked proof that Appellant was present at the time the crimes committed. Admitting that he was there, but suffered from mental health issues, would have been contrary to the defense strategy.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063-64; <u>see also Love</u>, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323. Under the <u>Strickland</u> test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. <u>Strickland</u>,

466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden, Nevada State Prison v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-part test). "[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069.

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). "Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

"There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. "Strategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable." Dawson v. State, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). Likewise, the decision not to call witnesses is within the discretion of trial counsel and will not be

questioned unless it was a plainly unreasonable decision. Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 38 P.3d 163 (2002); Dawson, 108 Nev. 112, 825 P.2d 593.

In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. A defendant is not entitled to a particular "relationship" with his attorney. Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 14, 103 S. Ct. 1610, 1617 (1983). There is no requirement for any specific amount of communication as long as counsel is reasonably effective in his representation. Id.

The role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." <u>Id.</u> To be effective, the constitution "does not require that counsel do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade." <u>United States v.</u> Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064–65, 2068).

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for postconviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "A petitioner for post-conviction relief cannot rely on conclusory claims for relief but must make specific factual allegations that if true would entitle him to relief. 'Bare' and 'naked' allegations are not sufficient to warrant postconviction relief, nor are those belied and repelled by the record." Id. "A claim is 'belied' when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it existed at the time the claim was made." Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 354, 46 P.3d 1228, 1230 (2002). A habeas corpus petitioner must prove disputed factual allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. Means, 120 Nev. at 1011, 103 P.3d at 32. The burden rests on Appellant to "allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition." NRS 34.735(6).

A party seeking review bears the responsibility "to cogently argue, and present relevant authority" to support his assertions. Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Restaurant, 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006); Dept. of Motor Vehicles and Public Safety v. Rowland, 107 Nev. 475, 479, 814 P.2d 80, 83 (1991) (defendant's failure to present legal authority resulted in no reason for the district court to consider defendant's claim); Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) (an arguing party must support his arguments with relevant authority and cogent argument; "issues not so presented need not be addressed"); Randall v. Salvation Army, 100 Nev. 466, 470-71, 686 P.2d 241, 244 (1984) (court may decline consideration of issues lacking citation to relevant legal authority); Holland Livestock v. B & C Enterprises, 92 Nev. 473, 533 P.2d 950 (1976) (issues lacking citation to relevant legal authority).

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments. See Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the "immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop." Rhyne, 118 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167.

1. Presentation of mental health issues was inconsistent with the trial strategy

The Court of Appeals Order Reversing and Remanding for an evidentiary hearing was clear as to what issues the district court needed to examine. The first

issue was whether counsel failed to investigate and present evidence that Appellant lacked the mens rea to commit the crimes in his case. The district court found that Mr. Sanft was not required to further investigate this issue because Appellant clearly told his attorney that he was not present at the time of the robbery and murder. The district court correctly noted that raising issues pertaining to Appellant's mental health issues would have been inconsistent with the trial strategy. 8 AA 1970. As such, Appellant's counsel acted reasonably in not further investigating this claim or presenting the information at trial. The district court did not abuse its discretion in coming to this conclusion, and this Court should affirm the denial Appellant's petition on this ground.

2. The decision not to present mental health issues at sentencing was reasonable and would not have altered the outcome

The district court also did not err in concluding that counsel was not ineffective for not presenting mental health and school records at sentencing. The district court found that counsel was reasonable in not going into details at sentencing because Appellant was maintaining his innocence and intended to appeal. To present Appellant's records would have been inconsistent with the strategy that Appellant wished to maintain his innocence.

However even if there were any shortcomings in not presenting the records, the district court found that such records would not have altered the outcome of the sentence. The district court explained the premeditation behind the robbery which

led to the murder in this case. The district court was familiar with the specific evidence in this case, and it determined the State presented a very strong case against Appellant. 8 AA 1973. Moreover, the victim's mother provided a devastating impact statement. Id. Based on the evidence of the trial, and the victim impact testimony, the district court held that the records would not have resulted in a different outcome. As such, the district court did not err in finding that the failure to present records was objectively unreasonable and would have resulted in a better sentence.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that the Court AFFIRM the district court's denial of Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction).